CONSTITUTION

SOUTHEAST ASIA PETROLEUM EXPLORATION SOCIETY

ARTICLE I

Name and Place of Business

Section 1

The Society shall be known as the "Southeast Asia Petroleum Exploration Society" hereinafter called "SEAPEX".

Section 2

The registered address and headquarters of SEAPEX shall be: Tanglin P O Box 423, Singapore 912415 or such other address as may be subsequently decided upon by the Council subject to the approval of the Singapore Registrar of Societies. SEAPEX shall carry out its activities only in places and premises, which have the prior written approval from the relevant authorities, where necessary.

ARTICLE II

Objectives

Section 1

The objectives of SEAPEX are to: (1) advance the science of geology and related earth sciences, with particular emphasis on petroleum and natural gas exploration, development and production in Southeast Asia: (2) foster the spirit of scientific research throughout its membership: (3) promote technologies for finding, developing and producing hydrocarbons (4) disseminate information relating to petroleum geoscience (5) inspire a high standard of professional conduct on the part of its Members and (6) act as a body to improve the awareness of oil and gas industry issues in the community.

ARTICLE III

Membership

Section 1

The membership of SEAPEX shall be made up of Honorary Members, Active Members, Life Members, Student Members and Corporate Scout Members.

<u>Honorary Members</u> – The Council may elect as Honorary Member, persons from the active membership who have distinguished themselves in the science of geology or who have contributed outstanding service to the success and welfare of SEAPEX. Honorary Members shall not be required to pay dues, and shall perpetually have all the privileges of Active Members.

Active Members – Qualifications to be an Active Member shall be a degree in geology, geophysics

or a related earth science, a minimum of five (5) years practical experience in petroleum exploration, or an expressed interest in petroleum exploration. Subject to Article III, Section 2 below, each Active Member shall be required to pay yearly dues and shall be eligible to hold office and shall be entitled to one (1) vote on each matter submitted to a vote of members.

<u>Life Members</u> – Any Active member may become a Life Member at any time by paying the Life Membership fee to be prescribed by the Council from time to time. No further yearly dues are payable, and said member shall perpetually have all the privileges of an Active member.

<u>Student Members</u> - Persons who are enrolled in a university or other institution of higher learning with an expressed interest in petroleum exploration or pursuing a degree in geology, geophysics or a related earth science are eligible to apply for Student Membership. Approval of such Student Membership application

shall be given after receiving two-thirds (2/3) of the vote of the Council. Student Members shall not be required to pay dues. Student Members shall not be eligible to vote or hold office of any kind.

Corporate Scout Members – Corporate Scout Membership is open to oil and gas corporations who are actively operating in the Asia Pacific region. A vote on new membership applications will be held by existing Corporate Scout Members in accordance with the Corporate Scout Members Guidelines as set out in Annex A to this Constitution. Corporate Scout Members shall abide by the Corporate Scout Members Guidelines. Corporate Scout Members shall not be eligible to vote or hold office of any kind, except in relation to the office of Corporate Scout Members Director as set out in Article V.

Section 2

Persons wishing to join SEAPEX shall apply for membership to the Council, on the form prescribed by the Council from time to time, to be obtained from the Secretary or any other member of the Council. Subject to approval by the Council, admission to membership of SEAPEX shall be granted upon payment by the applicant of the dues applicable to Active Members for the current year, and in the case of oil and gas corporations wishing to join SEAPEX as a Corporate Scout Member, upon fulfilling the criteria for admission as a Corporate Scout Member as set out in the Corporate Scout Members Guidelines. Subject to approval by Council, citizens of ASEAN countries shall be exempt form payment of dues. A copy of the Constitution shall be made available to every approved Member.

Section 3

Neither SEAPEX, its Officers or Councillors shall be liable to any Member for any losses, claims, liabilities or damages which a Member may incur in relation to his/her membership of SEAPEX, or for any matter or activity referred to or contemplated in this Constitution, regardless of whether such loss, claim, liability or damage arises from any act or omission, including (but not limited to) any act or omission amounting to gross negligence, fraud or willful default or breach of any obligation or duty of SEAPEX, its Officers or Councillors.

Section 4

Each Member shall be guided by the highest standards of ethics, personal honour, scientific integrity and professional conduct.

ARTICLE IV

Administration

Section 1

The administration of SEAPEX and the execution of activities to further the objectives of SEAPEX shall be carried out by a Council elected at each Annual General Meeting. The Council shall consist of not less than fourteen (14) persons. The <u>Council</u> shall comprise the six (6) elected Officers, plus the eight (8) Councillors elected from the Active Membership (each, a <u>Council Member</u>). In addition, past Presidents, representatives from each of the SEAPEX Chapters and other persons may be invited to serve as advisors to the Council and may attend Council Meetings at the discretion of the Council. Past Presidents and other persons attending such Council Meetings shall not have any voting rights.

Section 2

Council duties shall be to: receive and vote upon all applications for membership, appoint Officers and Councillors to fill vacancies occurring during the year and direct and supervise the affairs of SEAPEX.

Section 3

Council Members shall serve as business and activity advisors, give assistance to President, serve as committee chairmen, and perform other duties as determined by the Council from time to time.

Section 4

A Council Meeting shall be held at least once a month unless as otherwise directed by Council, upon at least

seven (7) days' prior notice being given to Council Members, unless each Council Member gives their written consent to such meeting being held without notice or at short notice. The President, or <u>Acting President</u>, is responsible for calling Council Meetings. At least one half (1/2) of the Council Members must be present (in person or by telephone, videoconference or similar means) for proceedings of the Council Meeting to be valid. Each Council Member shall have one vote, and may vote in person or by proxy. Except as otherwise provided by law or this Constitution, all matters arising at a Council Meeting shall be determined by a majority vote of those Council Members present in person or by proxy.

Section 5

Any expenditure of SEAPEX funds in excess of S\$3000 (or such other amount as determined by the Council from time to time) shall require the prior written approval of the Council.

Section 6

SEAPEX shall not borrow money and the Council shall have no authority to enter into debt in SEAPEX" s name.

Section 7

A bank account in the name of SEAPEX shall be opened and maintained at a bank designated by the Council. Cheques and other instruments of withdrawal from the bank account shall require the signatures of two Officers.

Section 8

Any Council Member absenting him/herself from three (3) consecutive Council Meetings, without satisfactory explanation, shall be deemed to have withdrawn from the Council and a successor may be co-opted by the Council to serve until the next Annual General Meeting. Any changes in the Council shall be notified to the Singapore Registrar of Societies within two (2) weeks of the change.

Section 9

The Council may, from time to time and on such terms as it determines, appoint persons to hold positions (including, but not limited to, the positions of editor and webmaster) to assist in the administration of SEAPEX. Such positions shall be filled by SEAPEX Members.

Section 10

From time to time the Council may appoint or organize subcommittees to help in the administration of special events.

Section 11

Each Council Member shall be indemnified by SEAPEX to the full extent permitted by law, against any cost, expense (including attorneys' fees) judgment or liability incurred by or imposed upon such Council Member in connection with the performance of their duties (excluding any expenses incurred by or imposed upon such Council Member in his/her capacity as a member of SEAPEX).

Section 12

Subject to approval by Council, SEAPEX Chapters may be established outside of Singapore. Chapters shall comprise SEAPEX Members and will be organized and administered in accordance with this Constitution.

Section 13

Subject to approval by Council, societies in harmony with the objects and aims of SEAPEX may become SEAPEX Affiliated Societies. Affiliated Societies cannot use the name "SEAPEX".

ARTICLE V

Officers and their Duties

Section 1

The Officers of SEAPEX shall be: President, First Vice President, Second Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and Corporate Scout Members Director, each of whose tenure shall be two (2) years commencing on the date of the Annual General Meeting immediately following the election of such Officer. Save for the Corporate Scout Members Director, any Officer can be a candidate for another Office or Council position at the expiry of his/her term. In addition, there shall be four (8) Councilors elected from the active membership, whose tenure shall be two (2) years. Four Councilors should be elected each alternating year.

Section 2

The position of Corporate Scout Members Director is only open to Corporate Scout Members of SEAPEX. Save for the position of Corporate Scout Members Director, no Corporate Scout Members may serve as an Officer or a Councilor.

Section 3

Save for the office of Corporate Scout Members Director, nomination of Officers and Councilors shall be made by the Council at the August Council Meeting. The Council shall nominate two (2) or more candidates for each office, save for the office of Corporate Scout Members Director, to the Council no later than during the August Council Meeting. A Nominating Committee, comprising: the President, who shall serve as Chairman of the Nominating Committee, and four (4) Council Members. The Council shall invite nominations for Officers and Councilors from the general membership during July, with a deadline of 1st August. The Nominating Committee shall nominate two (2) or more candidates for each office to the Council no later than the end of July. Additional nominations may be made from the floor following the report of the Nominating Committee at the regular August meeting of the general membership. Each Honorary Member, Active Member and Life Member is eligible to vote. Voting shall be by a secret ballot. Ballots shall be distributed by mail to all Members, save for Corporate Scout Members and Student Members, no later than 1 September, with a deadline for their return to a designated mailing address no later than 1 October. In the case of candidates for Officers, the person who receives the highest number of votes for such office shall be declared elected. In the case of candidates for the two (2) available Councillor positions, those persons receiving the first and second highest number of votes shall be declared elected. In the event of tied votes for a position, a second ballot shall be held. If it still results in a tie, a lot shall be drawn to determine who shall be the successful candidate, unless a contesting candidate withdraws from the election. Individual Honorary, Active and Life Members can hold no more than one position as a member of the Council. The newly elected Officers and Councilors will be presented at the following Annual General Meeting.

Section 4

The Corporate Scout Members Director shall be nominated and appointed by the Corporate Scout Members in accordance with the Corporate Scout Members Guidelines as set out in Annex A to this Constitution.

Section 5

The duties of the <u>President</u> shall be to preside at all meetings, call special meetings, appoint committees, and jointly with the Secretary and the Treasurer, sign all contracts on behalf of SEAPEX. He/she shall serve as chairman of the Council.

Section 6

The duties of the <u>First Vice President</u> shall be to serve as Technical Program Chairman and, in the absence of the President, to assume the duties of the President.

Section 7

The duties of the <u>Second Vice President</u> shall include responsibility for issues regarding membership, including the compilation of an annual membership directory for SEAPEX in the second quarter of each calendar year and, in the absence of the President and the First Vice President, to assume the duties of the President.

Section 8

The duties of the <u>Secretary</u> shall be to: (a) keep minutes of all meetings (b) attend to all correspondence and required secretarial services, and (c) jointly with the President and Treasurer, sign all written contracts and other obligations of SEAPEX. He/she shall assume the duties of the President in the absence of the President and the First and Second Vice Presidents. The Secretary may from time to time co-opt Members to form a Secretariat Office. The Secretariat Office will assist the Secretary in the performance of his/her duties.

Section 9

The duties of the <u>Treasurer</u> shall be to: monitor all transactions of SEAPEX funds, collect and disburse all moneys on behalf of SEAPEX, keep an account of all monetary transactions of SEAPEX, and be responsible for their correctness. He/she is authorized to make expenditures of SEAPEX funds only upon approval by the President or two additional Council Officers, except he/she may expend up to \$500.00 per month (or such other amount as determined by the Council from time to time) for petty expenses on behalf of SEAPEX. He/she will not keep on hand more than \$100.00 (or such other amount as determined by the Council from time to time) in the form of cash, and funds in excess of such amount will be deposited in an account to be opened in the name of SEAPEX at a bank to be named by the Council. The Treasurer will ensure that records of Officers" signatures are kept current for banking purposes.

Section 10

The duties of the Corporate Scout Members Director shall be to assume responsibility for all issues, relating to Corporate Scout Members only, including but not limited to bank accounts, guidelines, and activities relating to Corporate Scout Members, in accordance with the Corporate Scout Members Guidelines as set out in Annex A to this Constitution. For the avoidance of doubt, if dispute arises between Corporate Scout Members in relation to matters arising in the ordinary course of business, the dispute will be resolved in accordance with a majority vote of the Council.

Section 11

Two active SEAPEX Members, who are not Councilors, will be elected <u>Honorary Auditors</u> at each Annual General Meeting. They will hold office for one (1) year only, and shall not be re-elected for a consecutive term. Their role is to ensure that SEAPEX books are balanced and the accounts are in good order. Honorary Auditors are required to audit each year" s accounts and present a report of their findings to the Council one-month before, and again to the Members at such Annual General Meeting. However, the President may request the Honorary Auditors to audit SEAPEX" s accounts for any period during their tenure of office at any time and make a report to the Council. Honorary Auditors may, from time to time, be invited by the President to attend Council Meetings

Section 12

The Council may decide as and when deemed in line with the objectives of the Society, to associate itself with other societies or associations with similar interest and for mutual benefit. The Council will inform the membership of SEAPEX, of such associations and of their eventual termination.

ARTICLE VI

Society Meetings

Section 1

The supreme authority of SEAPEX is vested in a General Meeting of the Members.

Section 2

Regular SEAPEX members meetings in Singapore shall be held approximately every two months, with the time and location being nominated by the First Vice President and approved by the Council. When possible, notice of regular meetings shall be given at least seven (7) days in advance. Regular SEAPEX Chapter meetings shall be held at the discretion of the local organisers. Such meetings should include an industry

related talk or presentation. All SEAPEX events will be held in an environment condusive to participation by all members regardless of gender, ethnicity, religion or age, where attendees are able to network in an appropriate environment.

Section 3

SEAPEX shall hold its <u>Annual General Meeting</u> (A.G.M.) in October of each year. The Annual General Meeting shall be held in Singapore at a time and place to be designated by the Council. At this meeting, SEAPEX business shall be transacted, audited accounts of SEAPEX submitted for membership approval, Officers and Councillors for the forthcoming year shall be introduced. The outgoing President will give a report on SEAPEX activities and accomplishments of the past year. The incoming President will present goals and objectives for SEAPEX for the next year. At least one (1) month notice shall be given of an Annual General Meeting. The notice of the meeting shall provide the date, time and place of the meeting and shall be sent to all Members by the Secretary.

Section 4

An <u>Extraordinary General Meeting (E.G.M.)</u> may be called by the Council at any time. An E.G.M. must also be called by the President upon receipt by the Council of written requests by one-quarter of all Members eligible to vote. At least two (2) weeks^w notice shall be given of an Extraordinary General Meeting. The notice of the meeting shall provide the date, time and place of the meeting and shall be sent to all Members by the Secretary.

Section 5

At least one-tenth of the Members eligible to vote at a General Meeting shall form a quorum. In the event of there being no quorum at the commencement of a General Meeting, the meeting shall be adjourned for half an hour. If the number then present is still insufficient to form a quorum, those present shall be considered a quorum, but those Members present at such General Meeting shall have no power to amend any part of this Constitution.

Section 6

Any Member who wishes to place an item on the agenda of a General Meeting may do so provided he/she gives notice to the Secretary one (1) week before the meeting is due to be held.

Section 7

Except as otherwise required by law or this Constitution, Members eligible to vote at General Meetings may vote in person or by proxy. Members may submit personal votes either at a meeting or by mail, in the form and manner prescribed from time to time by the Council. All proxies shall be executed in writing, in the form and manner prescribed from time to time by the Council, and signed by the Member granting the proxy.

Section 8

Except as otherwise required by law or this Constitution, all matters at a General Meeting shall be decided by a majority vote of the Members present (in person or by proxy).

Section 9

Corporate Scout Members' meetings shall be held in accordance with the Corporate Scout Members Guidelines as set out in Annex A to this Constitution. All information, both written and oral, received in the course of Corporate Scout Members' meetings shall be considered confidential in accordance with the Corporate Scout Members Guidelines.

ARTICLE VII

Dissolution of Society

Section 1

SEAPEX shall not be dissolved except with the consent of not less than three-fifths (3/5) of SEAPEX

Members eligible to vote and resident in Singapore. This consent may be acquired either in person, or by proxy at a general meeting convened for the purpose, or by way of postal vote.

Section 2

In the event of SEAPEX being dissolved, all debts and liabilities legally incurred on its behalf shall be fully discharged and the remaining assets and funds, if any, shall be transferred to a bona fide society or societies, or other approved organizations having professional objectives similar to those of SEAPEX. The recipient(s) of these SEAPEX funds shall be decided upon by majority vote of the Council.

Section 3

A certificate of dissolution shall be given to the Singapore Registrar of Societies within seven (7) days of the dissolution of SEAPEX.

ARTICLE VIII

Amendments

Section 1

Amendments to this Constitution may be proposed by the Council or by written request from at least ten (10) voting Members of the Society.

Section 2

No amendment to this Constitution shall be passed except at a General Meeting and with the consent of two-thirds (2/3) of the voting Members present at such General Meeting (in person or by proxy).

Section 3

No Amendments shall come into force without the prior sanction of the Singapore Registrar of Societies.

ARTICLE IX

Dues and Payments

Section 1

Article IX shall not apply to Corporate Scout Members and Student Members.

Section 2

The fiscal year of the Society shall extend from 1 October to 30 September of the following year.

Section 3

Membership payments are due on October 1 of each calendar year. New members joining SEAPEX before June 1 in any calendar year shall pay full membership dues for that year. New members joining SEAPEX on or after June 1 in any calendar year will be fully paid members until October 1 of the following year.

Section 4

The annual dues for Active Members shall be prescribed from time to time by the Council. Such dues may be reviewed and adjusted periodically by the Council, but changes to membership dues are limited to a maximum of 20% increase per annum. At each Member's option, membership dues may be paid to SEAPEX in Singapore Dollar funds at an exchange rate determined by the Council.

Section 5

If the Council determines that such costs are reasonable and necessary, SEAPEX shall be entitled to charge fees for publications produced by SEAPEX and for participation in events organised by SEAPEX, including

Conferences, Conventions and social meetings of Members. Members shall be entitled to pay a discounted fee in respect of such publications and events.

ARTICLE X

Resignation/Suspension/Expulsion

Section 1

Any Member may resign from SEAPEX at any time. Such resignation shall be in writing to the Secretary or the President. No refunds for membership dues already paid will be made.

Section 2

Any Member of SEAPEX, regardless of their class of membership, is subject to expulsion for just cause upon a majority vote of the Council. Expulsion for just cause shall include, but not be limited to, dismissal for engaging in conduct inconsistent with: (a) the objectives of SEAPEX as defined in Article II of this Constitution; or (b) any policies adopted by the Council pursuant to this Constitution.

Section3

The Council may remove a Council Member from his/her position on the Council for just cause. Removal for just cause shall include, but not be limited to, removal for failure to attend the requisite number of meetings without explanation, as provided by Article IV, Section 8, and failure to maintain membership of SEAPEX.

Section 4

Any Member who is in arrears for payment of dues ninety (90) days after they are payable, shall be suspended from SEAPEX. However, their membership shall be reinstated immediately upon receipt of the arrears if received within the subsequent ninety (90) day period. An additional 10% late payment fee shall be levied on any payments received after such one hundred and eighty (180) day period. The name of any Member more than six (6) months in arrears shall be removed from the current SEAPEX membership roll.

ARTICLE XI

Prohibitions

Section 1

Gambling of any kind, whether for stakes or not; or the introduction of materials for gambling, drug taking and people of bad character are prohibited on SEAPEX" s premises or during any meetings or sponsored functions of SEAPEX.

Section 2

The funds of SEAPEX shall not be used to pay the fines of Members who have been convicted in the Court of Law.

Section 3

SEAPEX shall not engage in any trade union activity as defined in any written law relating to trade unions for the time being in force in Singapore.

Section 4

SEAPEX shall not hold any lottery, whether confined to its Members or not, in the name of SEAPEX or its officers, Council or Members.

Section 5

SEAPEX shall not indulge in any political activity or allow its funds and/or premises to be used for political purposes.

Section 6

SEAPEX shall not raise funds from the public for whatever purposes without the prior approval in writing of the Assistant Director Operations, Licensing Division, Singapore Police Force and other relevant authorities.

ARTICLE XII

Definitions and Interpretation

Section 1

In this Constitution the term:

<u>"Active Members"</u> shall have the meaning given to it in Article III, Section 1, and "Active Membership" shall have a corresponding meaning.

<u>"Acting President"</u> means the relevant Officer who performs the duties of the President, when the President is absent, in accordance with Article V, Sections 6-8.

"Annual General Meeting" shall have the meaning given to it in Article VI, Section 3.

"Corporate Scout Members" shall have the meaning given to it in Article III, Section 1, and "Corporate Scout Membership" shall have a corresponding meaning.

"Corporate Scout Members Director" shall have the meaning given to it in Article V, Section 10. "Corporate Scout Members Guidelines" shall refer to the guidelines as set out in Annex A to this Constitution

"Council" shall have the meaning given to it in Article IV, Section 1.

"Councillors" means those eight (8) members of the Council who are not Officers.

"Council Meeting" means a duly convened meeting of the Council.

"Council Member" shall have the meaning given to it in Article IV, Section 1.

<u>"Dues"</u> shall mean the annual fees payable by the Members, save for Corporate Scout Members and Student Members.

"Extraordinary General Meeting" shall have the meaning given to it in Article VI, Section 4

"First Vice President" shall have the meaning given to it in Article V, Section 6.

"General Meeting" means either an Annual General Meeting or an Extraordinary General Meeting.

"Honorary Auditors" shall have the meaning given to it in Article V, Section 11.

"Honorary Members" shall have the meaning given to it in Article III, Section 1.

<u>"Life Members"</u> shall have the meaning given to it in Article III, Section 1, and "Life Membership" shall have a corresponding meaning.

"Members" shall refer to all the different classes of members of SEAPEX;

"Nominating Committee" shall have the meaning given to it in Article V, Section 3.

"Officers" shall have the meaning given to it in Article V, Section 1.

<u>"President"</u> shall have the meaning given to it in Article V, Section 5.

<u>"Second Vice President"</u> shall have the meaning given to it in Article V, Section 7.

<u>"Secretary"</u> shall have the meaning given to it in Article V, Section 8.

<u>"Treasurer"</u> shall have the meaning given to it in Article V, Section 9.

Section 2

In the event of any matter pertaining to the day-to-day administration of SEAPEX which is not expressly provided for in this Constitution, the Council shall have the power to determine such matter. The decision of the Council shall be final unless and until it is reversed at a General Meeting.

ANNEX A - CORPORATE SCOUT MEMBERS GUIDELINES

1. CORPORATE SCOUT MEMBERS

1.1 Any party that intends to be a Corporate Scout Member must be the 'operator' or 'joint operator' of at least one concession or contract area in at least one of the countries in the Asia-Pacific region. If the operator is not represented in the Asia-Pacific region, the operator can designate (by letter to the Corporate Scout Members Director) a partner in the concession or contract area as its representative.

1.2 Any company with operations and offices in more than one country in the Asia-Pacific region may elect to have one or multiple memberships. Where one membership represents the operations in two or more countries, every effort must be made to undertake full reporting of all activities.

1.3 Requests to join should be submitted to the Corporate Scout Members Director along with details of operatorships.

1.4 A vote on new membership applications will be held by existing Corporate Scout Members at the next Corporate Scout Members' meeting. Corporate Scout Members may reject any application to join by majority vote of the members.

1.5 New members can participate as a Corporate Scout Member immediately after joining SEAPEX but are not entitled to receive, nor obligated to supply any data related to prior meetings.

1.6 A Corporate Scout Member who, for any reason, ceases to become an operator of at least one contract in the Asia-Pacific region will be suspended as a Corporate Scout Member from the next meeting. Suspension means that the company can no longer attend Corporate Scout Members' meetings nor receive Corporate Scout Members' information.

1.7 If a Corporate Scout Member fails to submit an activity report twice in a year, that member will become automatically suspended.

1.8 If a member fails to attend for three Corporate Scout Members' meetings in any year then a letter warning of possible suspension will be issued by the Corporate Scout Members' Director. If that member does not attend and report at all remaining Corporate Scout Members' meetings of the year following the receipt of the warning letter then that member will be automatically suspended.

1.9 Member companies suspended under Sections 1.7 and/or 1.8, who wish to rejoin SEAPEX are required to re-apply for membership as a new member, with adequate justification supporting their application.

1.10 Any party accepted as a Corporate Scout Member will abide by these guidelines.

2. CONFIDENTIALITY

All information, both written and oral received in the course of Corporate Scout Members' meetings shall be considered <u>CONFIDENTIAL</u>. Such data are exclusively for the use of Corporate Scout Members and partners in the contract areas from which reports are submitted and may not be distributed to third parties without the prior written consent of the company or companies providing such data.

Any violation of this confidentiality clause, as agreed by the Corporate Scout Members' Council, is grounds for dismissal of the company from further meetings.

3. CORPORATE SCOUT MEMBERS MEETING ARRANGEMENTS

3.1 Meetings are held six times a year in a Singapore hotel on the second Friday of every even month (except where holidays conflict, in which case it will usually be moved to the first Friday). The nominated contact representatives for each member company will be notified of each meeting by the Corporate Scout Members Director or SEAPEX Secretariat Office about 2 weeks prior to that meeting.

3.2 Meetings start at 11.00 a.m. and include lunch, they are an exchange of hard-copy reports to encourage interaction and business activities. In order to distribute and collate the various activity reports, members are requested to arrive prior to 10.30 a.m. in order that the meeting can start promptly.

3.3 Members are expected to send one attendee to each Corporate Scout Members meeting but may send up to two attendees. More than two attendees can only be permitted with the permission of the Corporate Scout Members Director. SEAPEX Secretariat Office will register the members' attendees upon their arrival at the meeting, check on the lunch attendance numbers, and collect at least one copy of each member's activity report.

3.4 The SEAPEX Secretariat Office will distribute reports from members who are unable to attend, and then co-ordinate the collection of the other company reports for these non-attending but reporting members. Members not submitting reports at a meeting are not entitled to the other members' reports for that meeting. It is a non-attending member's responsibility to arrange for the collection of other companies reports.

3.5 In order to fulfill the Corporate Scout Members' reporting requirements, any member who is unable to submit an activity report at a meeting may submit an e-mail report to the SEAPEX Secretariat Office within one week following that meeting. The SEAPEX Secretariat Office will forward e-mail reports so received to all other members or place them on a password-protected ftp, or secure website, but will not undertake the printing of such reports nor forward hard-copy reports to members so reporting.

3.6 A single copy of each report will be held securely and confidentially by the SEAPEX Secretariat Office for up to 1 year in case any members require replacements. Back copies of reports distributed prior to a member joining or for members who did not supply a report at a meeting are not available for distribution.

4. CORPORATE SCOUT MEMBERS' ORGANIZATION

4.1 A Corporate Scout Members' Council comprising up to ten (10) voluntary Corporate Scout Members shall be nominated and approved by the membership as required.

70

4.2 The Corporate Scout Members' Council annually elects the Corporate Scout Members Director from one of their number by a majority vote.

4.3 The Corporate Scout Members Director, assisted by the SEAPEX Secretariat Office and in consultation with SEAPEX, shall select the meeting dates and venue for the following year. If possible, the following year's arrangements will be concluded prior to the Corporate Scout Members Meeting in October and communicated to the members' representatives prior to the end of the year.

4.4 The Corporate Scout Members Director, with assistance from the SEAPEX Secretariat Office, will inform the members' representatives by e-mail (or fax) about the date, time and location of the next Corporate Scout Members Meeting. Where necessary, follow-up communications will be attempted. It is incumbent upon members to ensure that member e-mail addresses are current and up-to-date.

4.5 The Corporate Scout Members Director is responsible for receiving requests to be a Corporate Scout Member and is responsible for presenting eligible applications to the other members for a vote at the next meeting. An application to be a Corporate Scout Member can be rejected by a majority vote from the existing members.

4.6 The SEAPEX Secretariat Office, with help from the Corporate Scout Members Director, will compile a list of attendees and provide this to the other members at the meeting. A separate list of those expecting to attend the lunch will be provided to the Corporate Scout Members Director.

4.7 At year-end, the SEAPEX Secretariat Office and the Corporate Scout Members Director will provide the members with attendance records if required.

4.8 At any time three or more Corporate Scout Members may request that the SEAPEX Secretariat Office and Corporate Scout Members Director secretly poll the members outside of a regular meeting with regard to another member company being suspended as a Corporate Scout Member. These members should provide the SEAPEX Secretariat Office with the justification for such a request, and prior to any polling, the member concerned can correct or answer the issues raised against his company. A majority vote of more than half of all the current members is required before the SEAPEX Secretariat Office proposes suspension of the member concerned.

4.9 Members are requested to provide the Corporate Scout Members Director and SEAPEX Secretariat Office with the names of two or more contact representatives for communication purposes, their contact details (e.g. e-mail, fax and phone numbers), and their company website details, and to keep these updated.

4.10 Members should provide the Corporate Scout Members Director and SEAPEX Secretariat Office with the names of their attendee(s) in a timely manner prior to each meeting.

4.11 Where attendance at a meeting is impossible, that member is requested to send the required number of activity reports to the SEAPEX Secretariat Office prior to that meeting for distribution. If this deadline is missed, the member has up to one week to e-mail a report to the SEAPEX Secretariat Office for distribution.

4.12 Costs for sending and picking-up activity reports to the meetings are the responsibility of the members concerned.

5. FEES

Corporate Scout Members are required to pay a one time joining fee as determined by the Corporate Scout Members Director from time to time.

70

Adopted by:

The Council of the Southeast Asia Petroleum Exploration Society August 2008